FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/15/2024 3:38 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 84783-0-I

Supreme Court No. 102798-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAROL ALLREAD, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF BURIEN, a Washington City,

Respondent.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Treated as a Petition for Review

Lauren H. Berkowitz, WSBA No. 49620 Lauren H. Berkowitz, Attorney at Law, PLLC 2343 44th Avenue Southwest Seattle, WA 98116 Telephone: (206) 734-7054 Attorney for Petitioner

> Jordan A. Taren, WSBA No. 50066 Shishido Taren Goldsworthy PLLC 705 Second Avenue Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98104-1796 Telephone: (206) 622-1604 Attorney for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Carol Allread, Petitioner in the Court of Appeals and the Plaintiff in King County Superior Court proceeding. Allread asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in part II of this motion.

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Allread seeks review of the unpublished case No. 847830, filed by Division I of the Court of Appeals on January 16, 2024.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision because:

- a. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), the decision of the
 Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's rulings
 by arbitrarily narrowing the scope of admissible
 comparator evidence in employment disputes;
- b. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), whether all communications and actions contained during a public agency's executive session meeting are

"privileged" from discovery or admission at trial under a blanket assertion without review is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court;

c. Also pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), whether unlawfully threatening to "contest" an employee's statutory right to unemployment benefits at the time the employee is laid off if the employee engages in protected activity constitutes retaliation *per se* is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual History

The pertinent facts are undisputed.

Carol Allread ("Allread") was an Executive Assistant for five city managers at the City of Burien ("the City"). CP 37-62. Brian Wilson ("Wilson") was the City Manager and Allread's supervisor. He terminated Allread's employment in a one-person layoff exactly one month after receiving notice of her need for increased

PFMLA use. Allread used leave protected under Washington's Paid Family Medical Leave ("PFMLA") to care for her adult son with a disability. *Id*.

Evidence was presented to show Wilson's disdain for Allread's absences from work. RP 140. Although the City's policy was to have employees' supervisors sign staff leave slips requesting leave, Wilson refused to sign Allread's leave slips *only when she sought to use PFMLA-protected leave*. Allread used leave sparingly. RP 33:3-20; 168.

On June 23, 2020, the City, vis a vis Wilson himself, notified all upper management that no layoffs would be necessary in 2020, and the staff should begin considering 2021-2022 budgets. RP 405.

On June 24, 2020, Allread notified the City that her son had had a change in circumstances and she would need additional leave going forward. RP 224.

Thirty days later, Wilson selected Allread, and *only* Allread, for layoff on July 24, 2020. RP 402-3.

The City, through Wilson and its Director of Administrative Services, Cathy Schrock, notified Allread in a closed-door meeting during which the City both presented a written copy of a severance agreement and read it aloud to her, including the following clauses:

- A global release of claims. *Appendix* D at ¶6.
- o "As consideration for Carol Allread signing and not revoking this Agreement, Burien will pay Carol Allread the equivalent of two (2) months' salary, ... Burien will pay Carol Allread's accrued vacation leave...."

 Appendix D at ¶3.
- o "As further consideration, if Carol Allread applies for unemployment compensation benefits, Burien will not contest her application unless she claims that discrimination, harassment, retaliation, or other unlawful conduct was the reason for her lay off." *Appendix D*. at ¶4. CP 438-452; RP 232-3; *emphasis added*.

Allread testified that she believed from the moment it occurred that her termination was a violation of her civil rights, and was terrified at the prospect of having her unemployment benefits, taken away or delayed while also losing the healthcare benefits that were covering the care for her son. RP 128; 237; 414-15.

The City put Allread on paid administrative leave, escorted her outside immediately following notice of the job separation, and terminated her employment as of one week later without allowing Allread to obtain personal things from her computer or send a goodbye email to colleagues. RP 521-22:18-19; 713:9-20; CP 37-62.

Patricia Mejia was a 17-year Parks and Rec employee who had never before been disciplined. Mejia suffered a mental illness or disability triggered by significant traumatic violence that she was exposed to as part of her employment with Burien. Mejia used PFMLA-protected paid vacation leave to address her disability. When Mejia returned from her leave, she had her job duties changed and was disciplined. Thirty days after her

return from leave, the City selected Mejia for layoff. RP 709-18; CP 537-40.

Mary Eidmann ("Eidmann") the was Environmental Education Specialist for the City. Eidmann suffered from mental and physical disabilities. Eidmann took PFMLA-protected leave to address the disability. Upon her return from leave, the City changed and worsened Eidmann's working conditions, revoked previously granted reasonable accommodations, and then insisted on her resignation after she complained about discrimination. Eidmann was asked to resign and, under pressure, she did. Eidmann was presented with a separation agreement that threatened to contest her application for unemployment benefits if she alleged her separation was the result of discrimination, harassment, retaliation, or other unlawful conduct. CP 537-40.

Wilson personally was involved in all three job separations of Allread, Mejia, and Eidmann. Director Schrock was also involved in the separation of employment of all three. CP 537-545.

During discovery, the City asserted an unknown "executive privilege" in response to written discovery questions from Allread. *Appendix B*. Accordingly, Nancy Tosta, a former long-time City Councilmember, indicated she had relevant information to share about the City's retaliation against her for her opposition to what she believed was disability discrimination, but was not comfortable sharing the specific information with Allread's counsel. RP 568; 580.

In depositions, the City again asserted an unknown "executive session privilege." RP at 565, *citing* Deposition of Brian Wilson 43:4-25; 151:5-12. The trial court sustained the City's objection to Tosta's proffered testimony of pattern evidence in part because it occurred during executive session.

The Trial Court excluded all testimony from Eidmann. The Trial Court excluded all testimony about whether and why Mejia always believed her selection for layoff was retaliatory and discriminatory. The trial court excluded all testimony from Tosta regarding executive

sessions, both conduct and communications, without ever applying a privilege analysis to each communication individually.

The case was tried to a jury. Petitioner moved for a directed verdict on her RCW 50A.40.010(2) claim. The trial court denied the motion. The jury returned a defense verdict on all counts. Petitioner moved for a new trial based on six issues. The trial court denied Petitioner's motion. Petitioner appealed to the Court of Appeals, which affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument

The Court abused its discretion by excluding relevant and admissible pattern evidence from comparator employees. Allread needed to prove that she was discriminated against and retaliated against in violation of RCW 50A.40. She was entitled to present witness testimony about the City's pattern of discrimination and retaliation against employees who take a leave of absence from work for family and medical reasons. Similarly, the

Court erred by excluding evidence based on the flawed assumption that an executive session privilege exists under the Open Public Meetings Act. There is no Executive Session legal privilege shielding evidence from discovery or open court.

The Court acted contrary to law by ruling Burien's severance provision threatening to contest Allread's unemployment benefits if she alleged to a state entity that she believed her separation was unlawful did not violate the PFMLA.

B. Standard of Review

Trial court evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 196, 340 P.3d 213, 216 (2014). "A trial court abuses its discretion when it makes a manifestly unreasonable decision or a decision based on untenable grounds." *Double H, LP v. Dep't of Ecology,* 166 Wash.App. 707, 712-13 *review denied,* 174 Wash.2d 1014 (2012).

C. This Court Should Accept Review of the Court of Appeals Decision to Prevent an Arbitrary

Narrowing of Comparator Evidence Based on the Type of Leave Selected by an Employee.

The Court of Appeals Order arbitrarily narrows the scope of admissible evidence beyond that contemplated by this Court, creating a conflict with this Court's prior decisions and also causing an issue of substantial public concern.

Wilson's unlawful motivation is an element required to prove the City's retaliation (a type of interference under RCW 50A.40.010(1)) in response to Allread's leave-taking. Allread had a right to present evidence of Burien's – particularly Wilson and Schrock's – pattern of discriminating and retaliating against city employees who took leaves of absence from work for disability-related reasons. She was denied that right, which substantially impacted the outcome of the trial.

It is well established that Washington and federal courts will admit evidence of retaliatory or discriminatory acts by employers, even if the acts were directed at others. *Diaz v. American Tel. & Tel.*, 752 F.2d 1356, 1363 (9th Cir. 1985). First, the evidence of a pattern of the decision-

makers' past discrimination may prove unlawful intent. See, e.g., *Demelash v. Ross Stores, Inc.*, 105 Wash. App. 508, 526, 20 P.3d 447, 457 (2001), *review denied* 145 W.2d 1004; *Heyne v. Caruso*, 69 F.3d 1475, 1480 (9th Cir. 1995). *Estes v. Dick Smith Ford, Inc.*, 856 F.2d 1097 (8th Cir.1988). The *Heyne* Court held, "It is clear that an employer's conduct tending to demonstrate hostility towards a certain group is both relevant and admissible where the employer's general hostility towards that group is the true reason behind firing an employee who is a member of that group." *Heyne* at 1479.

The Washington Supreme Court has unequivocally ruled that such testimony is admissible. "In the context of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, evidence of an employer's motive or intent to retaliate is relevant to assertions that the employee's actions caused the discharge (the "causation" element) and that the employer does not have a legitimate justification for the discharge (the "absence of justification" element)." *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wash. 2d 432, 445–46, 191

P.3d 879, 888 (2008). Therefore, the *Brundridge* Court held, "...evidence of prior bad acts may be admissible for ... proof of motive, intent, plan, knowledge, etc." *id.* at 444

The U.S. Supreme Court also agrees: "In employment discrimination suits, in which the inner mental motivations behind allegedly discriminatory acts are near impossible to prove, 'pattern and practice' evidence is both discoverable and admissible to prove discriminatory intent." Lauer v. Longevity Medical Clinic, PLLC, 2014 WL 5471983 at 4 (Oct. 29, 2014); see also, U.S. Postal Serv. Bd. Of Govs. V. Aikens, 460 U.S. 711, 715-17 (1983) (recognizing that "there will seldom be 'eyewitness' testimony as to the employer's mental process," the Supreme Court held that evidence of the employer's discriminatory attitude in general is relevant and admissible.); Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wash.2d 172, 179-80 (2000).

Second, Allread's comparator testimony was also admissible to prove the City's proffered reason for its

termination of Allread was pretextual. Proof of pretext for a disciplinary or termination decision is often sufficient to prove discrimination. *See: St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks*, 509 U.S. 502, 512 (1993). *See also: Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cnty.*, 189 Wash. 2d 516, 527, 404 P.3d 464, 471 (2017).

Here, Petitioner sought to admit testimony of Eidman, Mejia, and Tosta to show the City's motive in terminating Allread was unlawful interference with and/or retaliation for Allread's family disability-related leave of absence from work by demonstrating the City generally, and Wilson and Schrock specifically, had a pattern of retaliating. CP 263-279, 453-462, RP 710-11, 715:11-24, 716; RP 780-782, 148. This testimony was admissible evidence to show the City's intent and the City's proffered reason was pretextual.

. Evidence that Burien swiftly terminated two other employees who took disability/medical leaves of absence from work and who alleged those actions were unlawful,

is powerfully in favor of Allread's claim that Burien and Wilson's justification for her termination was illegitimate.

To the extent that the Court of Appeals noted Brundridge did not find the admission of evidence in that particular case proper, that is only partially correct. Brundridge held that certain comparator evidence was properly admitted, and others was not. However, Brundridge's central holding is unchanged regardless of the application of the holding to that fact pattern.

Allread was not permitted to present any evidence to support the pattern evidence she sought to introduce via her comparators, the trial court's error, therefore, prejudiced Allread, and was *not* harmless. The excluded comparator evidence was critical circumstantial evidence to demonstrate why Burien separated Allread, and only Allread, from employment one month after announcing no layoffs would occur during 2020. The only thing that changed was Allread announced her need for medical-related leave. The same happened to Mejia later that calendar year, with the same result. And Tosta received

retaliation after her support of Allread and opposition to discrimination.

The Court should only have considered, "whether the probative value of the evidence outweighed its potential for prejudice." Brundridge; citing State v. Halstien, 122 Wash.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993); State v. Tharp, 96 Wash.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981). Probative evidence includes, though is not limited to, evidence that employees whose testimony was in question "...made the same type of complaint, to the same chain of command, at the same time as the plaintiffs' complaint." Atwood v. Mission Support All., LLC, 13 Wash. App. 2d 1126 (2020); citing Brundridge. The Atwood Court characterized the import of the testimony as "highly probative' Fluor's retaliatory that conduct intentional." Id.

The Court of Appeals also erred in holding only comparators who used the same leave type as Allread hold probative testimony and therefore that Eidman's and Mejia's testimony was of "minimal probative value." The

Court of Appeals based its decision on Eidmann's specific legal claims. However, the type of claim alleged is irrelevant; it is the facts and circumstances to which Eidmann would have testified that is relevant.

In the same pattern as Allread, Eidmann took a medical leave of absence, specifically for a disability, and experienced discrimination and retaliation in response. Whether Eidmann chose to use FMLA leave, ADA accommodations, or even vacation leave to cover that leave is irrelevant. It was leave for a similar purpose, and she experienced the City's same pattern of retaliation. Similarly, Allread did not need to prove Burien violated the PFMLA as to her comparators; the inquiry should look at the factual experiences of the comparators, not which legal claims might be supported by each individual's circumstances. Eidmann and Mejia are comparators because they both took disability or medical-related leaves of absence from work and were discriminated against and retaliatorily terminated by Wilson 30-days after taking their leave. The form of leave – short term disability, PTO,

PFMLA, etc. – is not relevant to showing the pattern, and should not be part of the comparator analysis.

The Court wholly failed to address Tosta's comparator testimony.

The comparator evidence Allread sought to admit was highly probative.

There is no evidence in the record that such evidence is <u>unfairly</u> prejudicial to the City. The Court's claim to the contrary rests on a full denial of this Court's holdings that comparator evidence, without more, is more probative than prejudicial.

The Court of Appeals' interpretation would eliminate proper comparator evidence based on employees' lawful choice of leave, and/or whether they chose to file legal claims, and/or whether they chose to file the same types of claims as the plaintiff at issue. None of those factors is relevant or makes the testimony at all less probative. Allread took a family medical-related absence from work that was protected by the PFMLA, and Burien's pattern of discrimination and retaliation — as

established by similar conduct toward Eidmann and Mejia

– resulted in a violation of Allread's rights under the PFMLA, and an unlawful termination as it applied to her situation.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to exclude Mejia's and Eidmann's testimony because did not take leave to care for family, while Allread's leave was to care for a family member's disability. The Court of Appeals again impermissibly narrows the scope of the protection.

No court has required comparators have the same minutiae, such as the same disability or the same person dealing with the disability. It is enough that all three, Allread, Mejia, and Eidmann, needed to use leave (of any kind) to address disabilities (of any kind and for any covered person). They were all members of the *same* protected class: persons who took legally-protected absences from work to address disabilities.

The trial court abused its discretion by holding inadmissible this extremely probative evidence of the

City's, Wilson's, and Schrock's pattern, and the Court of Appeals compounded the trial court's error by issuing a manifestly unreasonable Order based on untenable grounds or reasons – and did not address the Tosta comparator evidence at all.¹

D. This Court Should Accept Review of the Court of Appeals Decision to Clarify That An Unlawful Clause Threatening to <u>Contest</u> Unemployment Benefits Constitutes Retaliation Per Se.

Washington anti-retaliation laws are liberally construed to give maximum effect and protection to the rights of employees. There is an enormous imbalance of power between employers and employees. *Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross*, 184 Wn.2d 300, 309, 358 P.3d 1153 (2015). When an employer threatens to contest an application for unemployment compensation if the individual claims that their termination was the result of discrimination, harassment, retaliation, or unlawful

_

¹ Tosta's excluded testimony would have shown the City's and Wilson's pattern of retaliation and violation of RCW 50A.40.010 based on conduct by the City and Wilson directed at Tosta because of her support of and communication with the Petitioner, Allread, during the immediate aftermath of Allread's termination.

conduct, the only reasonable interpretation of that clause is as a threat intended to silence complaints of unlawful employment practices. Washington law does not allow such bully tactics by employers because forcing someone to choose between their statutory right to make a goodfaith allegation of unlawful employment practices, or remaining silent and not jeopardizing their only potential source of income in the foreseeable future, severely chills and dissuades the enforcement of employee rights.

1. The City's Threat Was to Contest Allread's Statutory Benefits, Not Merely Defend Itself.

The Court of Appeals adopts the City's factually and legally incorrect argument that, "the City reserve[d] the right to defend itself against such allegations." *Order* at 24. The Court of Appeals, simply, is wrong. *Supra*.

The threat is especially egregious given the City's version of events—that this was a layoff for financial reasons—Allread was unequivocally entitled to such benefits. *Id.* At 1042:1-7. The reason for the layoff is wholly irrelevant to the Employment Security Department

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