### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/18/2024 9:48 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

Case No. 1027982

## CAROL ALLREAD,

# Petitioner

VS.

CITY OF BURIEN,

Respondent

# CITY OF BURIEN'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jayne L. Freeman, WSBA #24318 Sean M. Dwyer, WSBA #57281 Keating, Bucklin, & McCormack, Inc., P.S. 801 Second Avenue, Suite 1210 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 623-8861 Email: jfreeman@kbmlawyers.com Email: sdwyer@kbmlawyers.com Attorneys for Respondent City of Burien

#

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

Numerous witnesses with first-hand knowledge contradicted Allread's speculative characterizations of events; none corroborated her descriptions of her interactions with Wilson or other City staff they had observed.

# C. <u>Evidence Presented at Trial Provided The Jury</u> <u>Substantial, Objective, And Credible Bases To</u> <u>Support Its Verdict.</u>

First, the jury heard protracted testimony from Ms. Allread confirming Wilson's repeated approvals of her leave requests each year, in 2017 (RP 31-37; Ex. 206-207), 2018 (RP 95-106; Ex. 209), 2019 (RP 40, 42; Ex. 209), and 2020 (RP 106-112; Ex. 210). Allread's leave was approved as consistently during Wilson's tenure as City Manager as in prior years. RP 299-300, 353-354, 448-452, 452-453, 478-479, 758, 763; Exs. 206, 214, 169. Human Resources witnesses confirmed that many City's employees who had used family leave still worked there, and that Wilson had directed HR to ensure employees knew and were able to exercise their rights. RP 291-298; Ex. 20, 140-141.

Second, every trial witness involved in Leadership Team meetings and budget decisions corroborated the facts and circumstances leading to the City Manager's layoff decision, such as revenue depletions and operational changes due to COVID 19 restrictions necessitating cuts in all departmental budgets, including in the City Manager's Office. RP 651-652, 655-656, 283-289. They confirmed that, consistent with meeting minutes and emails, it was well-known that "things will be in flux as decisions are made and new information comes forward," which might (and did) include more layoffs. RP 281-289, 314-317, 332; Ex. 132-134. These witnesses contradicted Allread's assertion that Wilson ever suggested there would be "no more layoffs." RP 16-17, 27-29, 121.

Though admittedly never having managed a department or budget, or understanding how City departments might cut budgets by 12%, Allread told the jury that, in her opinion, the explanation of the budget concerns in her own layoff notice "was just lies." R P 1289, 235-237, 14-19, 121. Wilson denied this and explained to the jury how he reached the difficult decision to eliminate his own Assistant's position and absorb, re-distribute, or do without the administrative tasks she had provided; his contemporaneous communications consistently reflected that the layoff was solely budget-related. RP 466-473, 485; Ex. 136, 137. The Finance Director corroborated that additional 2020 layoffs were always among considerations discussed at the time. RP 656-659, 661.

The jury of six returned a unanimous defense verdict on Allread's claims of: 1) PFMLA interference; 2) PFMLA retaliation, and 3) wrongful termination in violation of public policy. CP 3996-3997, 3979-3995; RP 976-1005.

#### III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Allread fails to establish RAP 13.4(b) standards governing acceptance of review as to any of the issues identified; therefore, her Petition for Review should be denied.

# A. <u>The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Trial</u> <u>Court's Exercise of Discretion Regarding</u> <u>Admissibility of Non-Party Co-Worker Testimony.</u>

There is nothing "arbitrary" about the Court of Appeals opinion affirming the trial court's decisions regarding admissibility of "comparator" evidence, nor does the opinion create a conflict with precedent such as *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 445–46, 191 P.3d 879, 888 (2008).<sup>2</sup> Allread's Petition reflects nothing more than continued disagreement with a series of sound discretionary evidentiary decisions by the trial court.

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that "deference is owed to the judicial actor who is 'better positioned than another to decide the issue in question" in finding the trial court did not abuse its discretion here. *See*, *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The term "comparator" typically describes similarly-situated employees outside a class protected by RCW Ch. 49.60 (WLAD) alleged to have been treated *more favorably* than a plaintiff alleging "disparate treatment". *See, e.g., Johnson v. DSHS.*, 80 Wn. App. 212, 226, 907 P.2d 1223, 1231 (1996)).

122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). Noting that two different trial judges reached the same discretionary conclusion based on the record, the Court of Appeals found the court appropriately applied ER 403 by balancing the probative value of the proffered evidence against "the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." *Opinion*, at 8-11; RP 1166.

On review, the Court specifically explained how the trial court's discretionary rulings were entirely consistent with *Brundridge*, which confirmed that evidence is not necessarily admissible just because it might be relevant. *Opinion* at 12. In *Brundridge*, this court actually approved exclusion of similar evidence in an employment retaliation case.

In Atwood v. Mission Support All., LLC, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1126 (2020), the court found that admission of evidence of alleged retaliation against other, non-party employees in

different positions and circumstances was so prejudicial that it required reversal of a Plaintiff's verdict ("None of the four employees was a proper comparator. Admission of evidence of their treatment was error... Atwood misused this irrelevant evidence" by characterizing it as comparator evidence to argue retaliation was unsurprising, given its culture).

Here, the record was replete with evidence of the trial court repeatedly evaluating Allread's recurring demands for a different result on this evidentiary ruling throughout all stages of the litigation. CP 700-704, 574-590 (order severing actions); CP 322, 245-256 (motions in limine); RP 1161-1164, CP 453-461 (seeking "clarification" of rulings); RP 563-578, 587 (continuing offer of proof); RP 1166 (court balancing prejudicial effect) CP 520 (post-trial motion for new trial).

Far from Allread's characterization of an "arbitrary" ruling, the record reflects the trial court's careful analysis of the evidence consistent with the standards set forth in *Brundridge*. Though *Brundridge* acknowledges that "...evidence of prior

bad acts may be admissible for ... proof of motive, intent, plan, knowledge" this permissive language derived from ER 404(b) does not end the inquiry. Rather, it merely allows the court to then go on to evaluate the probative value of co-worker testimony in relation to the elements of the specific claims at issue, balanced against "whether the probative value of the evidence outweighed its potential for prejudice." ER 403; *Petition* at 15, citing *Brundridge* at 446.

> 1. <u>Legal Precedent Supports Exclusion of Testimony</u> <u>From Co-Workers Using Leave Pursuant to</u> <u>ER 403 Balancing of Probative Value and</u> <u>Potential Prejudice.</u>

Allread erroneously asserts that "no court has required comparators have "the same minutiae, such as the same disability or the same person dealing with the disability," arguing "[T]hey were all members of the same protected class: persons who took legally-protected absences from work to address disabilities." *Petition* at 18. Her suggestion that *Brundridge's* reliance on the Ninth Circuit's ruling in *Heyne v*. Caruso, 69 F.3d 1475, 1481 (9th Cir. 1995) supports her position is incorrect.

To the contrary, since its 1995 decision in Heyne, the Ninth Circuit has specifically rejected the position proffered by Allread, declining to extend its own ruling to "such an amorphous group" as employees with medical problems, or those who miss work for medical appointments or family illness. See, Beachy v. Boise Cascade Corp., 191 F.3d 1010, 1014 (9th Cir. 1999). The Beachy court also noted that it was not an abuse of discretion to exclude such co-worker testimony where it was not clear the examples of the employer's response to medical leave were actually unlawful and where the trial court determined that admission of the testimony would be more prejudicial than probative under FRE 403. See also, Romero v. Cnty. Of Santa Clara, 666 F. App'x 609, 612 (9th Cir. 2016) (court properly excluded testimony comparing a group not "defined by clearly established parameters such as gender or race," finding limited probative value).

Similarly, in French v. Providence Everett Med. Ctr., No. C07-0217RSL, 2009 WL 10676494, at \*2 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 19, 2009), the District Court relied on *Beachy* to distinguish *Heyne* and exclude testimony of co-workers who also alleged they suffered discrimination for taking medical leave in a case involving claims of FMLA and WLAD (RCW Ch. 49.60) discrimination and retaliation. Noting differing reasons for taking leave and potential for undue prejudice and confusion if the jury "punished" the defendant employer for actions not involving the plaintiff, the court also recognized that allowing such evidence would also likely require "mini-trials" into the circumstances of each one of the other employment situations. Id.

Based on this legal precedent, the trial court could have excluded the co-worker evidence by simply finding that the *Heyne/Brundridge* rulings simply do not apply to claims involving use of protected leave as opposed to discriminatory treatment of employees in a more homogenous class, such as gender or race. However, the lower courts here nevertheless went on to apply the ER 403 balancing test endorsed in *Brundridge* to the proffered evidence in this case to reach the same results on the merits. The Court of Appeals did not hold that "only comparators who used the same leave type as Allread hold probative testimony." Rather, it found the record reflected that the trial court properly weighed the probative value of the evidence offered against potential prejudice in the context of the claims asserted by Allread and did not abuse its discretion in limiting some testimony. *Opinion* 9-13.

> 2. <u>The Trial Court Properly Evaluated the Probative</u> <u>Value of the Proffered Evidence in Conducting an</u> <u>ER 403 Analysis.</u>

Acknowledging that evidence of unlawful treatment of other employees *can sometimes* be probative of an employer's attitude toward certain classes of protected employees, it is the court's duty to then determine the relative worth of such evidence in proving the claims at issue. *See, Brundridge, supra*. This requires an understanding of the elements of the claims at issue.

Here, the trial court found the Eidmann and Mejia testimony was of minimal value in helping the jury determine whether it was "more likely than not" that the City Manager considered Allread's use of PFMLA leave a negative factor in the 2020 layoff decision, primarily due to significantly different circumstances of each employee.<sup>3</sup>

For example, Eidmann's allegations and employment circumstances were materially dissimilar from those of Allread. She did not merely "use a different type of leave;" she did not allege "interference" with or denial of any type of leave at all. Unlike Allread, Eidmann alleged that the City had failed to make reasonable accommodations for her disability pursuant to RCW Ch. 49.60 (WLAD). Such claims require consideration of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Allread's PFMLA "interference" claim required proof the City used her request for PFMLA leave as a negative factor in the in the July 2020 layoff decision. CP 3987. Her PFMLA "retaliation" claim required proof she engaged in "opposition activity" protected by the PFMLA prior to her July 2020 termination, which she had not.

notice, communication, and interactive processes regarding that employee's ability to perform her particular job duties and the sufficiency of the accommodations provided in light of medical necessities related to her specific medical conditions—none of which are pertinent to Allread's PFMLA claims. *See, Opinion* at 10, *Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 160 Wash. App. 765, 777, 249 P.3d 1044, 1049 (2011).

Further, Eidmann worked in the Public Works Department, not for the City Manager, and quit her job in 2019—before the COVID 19 pandemic. She was not terminated, disciplined, or laid off. Nor was there any finding that the City's handling of her disability accommodation was unlawful.

Mejia worked in the Parks Department under Parks Director Carolyn Hope. RP 905, 715. She was expected to testify she "believed" she had been discriminated against in how the Parks Department administered accommodations for her unique medical condition and restrictions in connection

with her performing her own job as a Recreation Coordinator. RP 709-717, 718, 917; CP<sup>4</sup>

The Parks Director testified that she laid off numerous seasonal, part-time, and full-time staff due to the pandemic's financial impacts on her department. RP 902, 905-906. Allread actually argued at trial that Mejia was treated *better* than her as her layoff did not occur until the end of 2020, rather than mid-year. RP 1532 (closing argument). Her theory emphasized she believed the City Manager's characterization of her separation as a COVID layoff was a cover-up for PFMLA interference because of the *timing* of the decision, i.e. that she believed no more layoffs would be considered until the end of 2020, when Meija's layoff became effective. See. RP 1274-1275. See Section III (C) for argument regarding the scope of Councilmember Tosta's testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The "pretext" standard in *Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cnty.*, 189 Wn.2d 516, 527, 404 P.3d 464, 471 (2017) falls away at trial. *See, e.g., Farah v. Hertz Transporting, Inc.*, 196 Wn. App. 171, 180, 383 P.3d 552, 558 (2016).

3. <u>The Trial Court Properly Exercised its Discretion</u> <u>in Finding the Potential for Prejudice Outweighed</u> <u>Minimum Probative Value of Co-Worker</u> <u>Testimony.</u>

Like the courts in *Beachy*, *Romero*, and *French*, the Court of Appeals found the trial court reasonably concluded the potential for unfair prejudice outweighed the probative value of co-worker testimony based on the specific facts of this case. *Opinion*, at 9-13. These opinions involved evidence much more like Allread's than that evaluated in *Heyne*, where female co-workers had testified they were subjected to similar sexual advances or comments reflecting the same supervisor's objectification of women—all of which would be indisputably inappropriate conduct in the workplace.

In contrast, it would be far from obvious that the City of Burien's administration of confidential and complex disability accommodations unique to each employee performing a different job and their specific medical limitations recommended by their treating physicians was "discriminatory" or "retaliatory" based solely on a co-worker's "belief" that their circumstances could have been handled differently. For the jury to make sense of such evidence, they would need to be educated on the legal standards of disability accommodation, WLAD discrimination,<sup>5</sup> and the City would have to put on "mini-trials" within the Allread trial to explain the legitimate basis for each different employment decision.

Absent such additional and remote proceedings, the jury could have been improperly misled to assume the City somehow acted improperly based solely on "beliefs" of other employees and to assume an improper motive with respect to Ms. Allread. In reality, such speculation by other employees would provide little, if any, insight into the City Manager's decision to eliminate the Executive Assistant position from the City Manager's Office in the height of COVID cutbacks in 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> None of which were claims or issues in Allread's case.

# B. <u>The Lower Courts Properly Applied CR 50 Standards</u> and Washington Law to Deny a Directed Verdict in <u>Plaintiff's Favor on Her PFMLA Retaliation Claim.</u>

Allread identifies no conflicting appellate decisions or issues of substantial public interest warranting review of her unsuccessful "retaliation per se" claim; in fact, she cites no precedential authority supporting this legal theory at all. The only citation to Washington law regarding this issue is to RCW 49.44.211, a statute that was not passed by the legislature until more than a year <u>after</u> Allread was laid off during COVID and declined to enter into a separation agreement offered by the City in 2021. Further, Allread failed to timely raise this statutory argument in lower courts, and therefore has waived it. *Opinion* at 27; *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

> 1. <u>The Court Properly Submitted Allread's PFMLA</u> <u>Retaliation Claim to the Jury and the Defense</u> <u>Verdict Was Supported by Substantial Evidence.</u>

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